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Hearing commenced at 10.08 am 

 

BARKER, MR MARK JOHN 
Electrician and Occupational Health and Safety Representative, 
Esperance Port Authority, examined:  

 

WILLOUGHBY, MR ANTHONY BRIAN 
Boilermaker and Occupational Health and Safety Representative, 
Esperance Port Authority, examined: 

 

WIEROBIEJ, MR EDWARD HENRYK 
Port Employee and Occupational Health and Safety Representative, 
Esperance Port Authority, examined: 

 

STEWART, MR ROBERT 
Port Worker and Occupational Health and Safety Representative,  
Esperance Port Authority, examined:   

 

 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  This committee hearing is a proceeding of Parliament and warrants 
the same respect that proceedings in the house itself demand.  Even though you are not required to 
give evidence on oath, any deliberate misleading of the committee may be regarded as a contempt 
of Parliament.  Have you completed the “Details of Witness” form?   

The Witnesses:  Yes.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Did you understand the notes at the bottom of the form?   

The Witnesses:  Yes.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Did you receive and read an information for witnesses briefing sheet 
regarding giving evidence before parliamentary committees?   

The Witnesses:  Yes  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Do you have any questions relating to your appearance before the 
committee today?   

The Witnesses:  No.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Thank you for appearing before the committee.  In doing this 
investigation, we have been given a huge amount of material from various sources, from the mining 
company, from the port authority and from the DEC - boxes and boxes of it.  We are trying to 
clarify some of the issues relating to that information that has been given to us.  We are not getting 
you here today to do any pointing of fingers.  It is more to get a better understanding of what was 
going on at the port.  

Mr P. PAPALIA:  In the port’s submission, it provided us with a whole lot of documentation.  One 
of the things they gave us was a report produced by you following a trip to Port Pirie in the 
consultation period prior to deciding to go ahead with the lead export.  It contained a fairly 
significant list of concerns, or appeared to have a lot of concerns, the recommendation at the end of 
which was to go ahead, subject to your concerns being addressed.  I think the wording was 
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something along the lines, “We very cautiously agree to go ahead, subject to our concerns being 
addressed”.  In the rest of the documentation from the port, the only reference to your concerns was 
a statement that your concerns had been addressed.  What had been done to satisfy you that it would 
be okay to utilise the same loading system that you had been using for nickel to export lead from 
the port?   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  You will have to work out who will be speaking.  

Mr Stewart:  I know the document you are referring to.  That came out of a consultation process 
with the whole workforce.  The number of people involved in that was quite large.  That was just an 
outline, basically, of what the issues were.  At the end of that process, there were a number of 
further workshops.  A meeting was held with the workforce and the CEO in regard to our issues, 
and a list of how these issues were going to be addressed was drawn up.  As it turned out, the time 
line for those things being addressed was not possibly carried out to a point that we were entirely 
happy with it.  However, one of the key issues was the form of the freight that we are going to be 
handling, and how to handle it in our system, because we did not really know until we got it there 
how it was going to handle.  We knew we had problems to some degree with nickel, and we knew - 
as that document tells you - the concerns we were having with regard to the lack of containment.  I 
was one of the people who went to Port Pirie to see how they controlled the problems they had 
there.  Port Pirie, as it turned out, was not all that comparable in a lot of ways to Esperance.  It has 
been running for 100 years.  It has had a nickel smelter adjacent to the town for that period.  The 
whole town was really severely compromised with lead right throughout the town, and they had 
procedures in place to try to remediate that problem.  However, we did come back with some useful 
information from them.  We had good contact with them, and looked over their site.  From what we 
saw, the key issues for us were that containment was critical.  We had to contain the product.  The 
use of water, which they used extensively on their stockpiles and on their clean-up system, was also 
a key issue to the control of dust problem.  So, we came back and made those recommendations.  I 
was on that as a health and safety rep.  We had Gary Longbottom, who you may have heard of in 
your other work, and also Bill Cutten.  I cannot remember his title.  He was basically from the 
office end of things, and he was doing the risk assessments of the proposal.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Those people really do not matter, I guess.  The real issue here is 
that you came back and agreed that it was okay for lead to go out.  You were concerned at the start, 
and justifiably.  When you look back, your concerns were all correct, yet you were convinced that it 
was going to be okay.  However, as it turned out, it was not.  

Mr Stewart:  To say “convinced” is a bit strong.  I do not think we were convinced.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  So you still had concerns?   

Mr Stewart:  Certainly, we had concerns.  I think those concerns have been borne out to some 
degree by events that have happened since then.  What perhaps has not been that noticeable in all 
the interest over the heavy metals is that we have a lot of other jobs that we do as well.  Every one 
of us here plays a whole number of roles.  The heavy metals circuit, as we identified, had serious 
issues.  A lot of that was because it was built at a time when a lot of the safety and environmental 
concerns we have today were not necessarily of high profile.  It was a relatively primitive, in our 
terms, system, and we were identifying those problems and trying to address them.  However, given 
all the other things that were going on at the port at the time, the priorities were not always focused 
on these issues.  Often people at the various levels were distracted with all the developments that 
were going on with the iron ore, the RNO and all the other things, so we often got frustrated with 
this.  I know the guys in my team, and I am sure all the teams, were frustrated at times by the fact 
that the whole process of addressing these issues was slow.  When I was talking about Port Pirie, 
the key issue we understood from that was the use of water to control the dust.  The moisture 
content of the product was also a key issue.  We had difficulties because it seemed like the 
communication that we kept presenting to the people who we were accountable to, about things like 
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the control of the dust, and the moisture levels, were not being responded to in the way we would 
have liked.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Who are you accountable to?  Who do you report to?   

Mr Stewart:  Each of us works in a team.  There are four teams that share duties.  We have a team 
leader on each team who is responsible for his -   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  And, what, up from there?   

Mr Stewart:  Yes, and up from there.  Part of the problem is that there is a group of people who 
carry out different roles.  At the time when we were safety reps, there was not a person dedicated to 
the occ health and safety management role.  That was shared between a number of persons.  It was 
never quite clear in our minds just whose duty it was to address our concerns.  I mean, there were 
people there who would be accountable for the actual physical plant, others for the sheds and 
construction, and others for the environmental side of it, so it was difficult for us to see exactly who 
should be doing what and when, especially as I said, when there were other tasks that we had to do 
as well.  There were concerns right throughout the period, I think, that we were not getting it right.  
A lot of emphasis was placed on the fact that our blood lead levels should show if we were not 
having good control. 

[10.20 am] 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Did any of you or your teams have elevated lead levels?  

Mr Willoughby:  I started at four, went to 10 and I am back down to four again.   

Mr Stewart:  My team did not.  I did not within my team.  Our team actually had the responsibility 
of maintaining the actual shed and the equipment inside the shed that was used to store the lead.  
We had a fairly high level of exposure, plus I was a plant supervisor, which meant when lead was 
loading, I had to maintain the equipment.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  In the shed?  

Mr Stewart:  In the shed.  We had to inspect and ensure it was operational.  Again, a lot of that 
equipment is old and not, in our view, ideal for the job it was doing.  The big key is the moisture 
levels within the product we were handling.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Did you have anything to do with those in the shed?  Your health 
officers were obviously concerned about workers being affected by dust.  Were you concerned 
when there was ore coming out of that shed that was too dry?  

Mr Stewart:  Certainly, yes.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  What did you do about that?  

Mr Stewart:  The difficulty we had was the inconsistent product more than anything.  Magellan did 
not send us a consistent product.  It varied from shipment to shipment.  It varied depending on the 
conditions of transport.  We never really knew when we started out-loading just what product we 
were going to get.  Even from one loader bucket to the next loader bucket, there could be variation.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Did you go into the shed to look at those things?  

Mr Stewart:  Without being inside the shed, it is a bit hard to appreciate how poor the visibility 
was in there, how difficult it was for the loader operators and the plant operators to really accurately 
assess what was going on.  It was very dusty in there. 

Mr Willoughby:  The loader fumes look like lead dust anyway.  It is black. 

Mr Stewart:  Visibility is very poor.  You go in there and you do what you could.  We were not 
wanting to spend too long in there because we knew it was a hazardous environment.   
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The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  How often would you go into that shed, when a load was on I am 
talking about?  

Mr Willoughby:  An eight-hour shift, you would probably go in there three or four times, I 
suppose.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  To look at the machinery?  

Mr Willoughby:  To watch how the loaders are operating and make sure that the out-loading 
system is operating properly.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Would you have a role in the moisture content of the ore?  Would 
you be saying, “This is too dry?”  

Mr Stewart:  We did not have a clear system of assessing the moisture content or selecting from 
varying stockpiles.  The loader operators had the best view on that because as they took the buckets 
of product away, they got some impression from the way it slumped and the way it reacted to their 
activities and on occasions when we had issues with dust, we would ask them where there was any 
stuff that was damper that we could shandy, or however you want to describe it.    

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  You would make that suggestion, would you?  

Mr Stewart:  Yes, in consultation with the loader operators.  At times we would say, “Look, this 
stuff’s too dry.”  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  What about the Magellan representative?  Was he there in the shed 
as well?  

Mr Stewart:  He would only really show up when things were getting acute - in other words, when 
we were asking him to shut the system down, he might show up.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  You have a ship coming to you ready to load and you have got a 
pile that has been sitting there for three weeks and it gets a bit dry on the outside and there might be 
another more recent moist pile.  Who would go into the shed and say, “Okay, this is what we’re 
going to do to sort this out?”  It would not be the loader operator, I assume, because they said it was 
not them.  Who would do that?  

Mr Willoughby:  I do not think there was anyone appointed.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  So the Magellan representative would not have been there at the 
start to sort that out?  

Mr Stewart:  He may come and go at different points.  Usually when we were starting up, there 
was a good chance he would be around to get some assessment.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  In the shed?  

Mr Stewart:  No, he would not actually go in the shed.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  So he would not suit up?   

Mr Stewart:  Well, that is another issue too.   

Mr Willoughby:  I rarely saw him go into the shed.   

Mr Stewart:  He would rely heavily on the Brambles loader operators -  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  To tell him what was going on. 

Mr Stewart:  To give him some read-out on what was going on.   

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  You just said then that that is another issue.  What is that other issue?  Can 
you tell us what that other issue is?  

Mr Stewart:  The issues we would often have is people wanting to observe or contribute to what 
we were doing.  They were not necessarily all that scrupulous about their own personal protective 
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equipment and their own - we did not like having people that we did not have control over involved 
in a process because it made it difficult for us to manage it, basically.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Are you saying they would go into the shed without protective gear 
sometimes?  

Mr Stewart:  That certainly has happened.  I could not give you details.  There may have been 
reports made at different times about that taking place.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  I do not suppose you would want to tell us who it was.   

Mr Stewart:  There were a range of people who might have done things like that.  Unless I had the 
reports, I could not say exactly who it was at any time.   

Mr Willoughby:  The incident reports, we call them the blue forms, would be floating around 
somewhere.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  We are ready to ask you a whole bunch of questions about the 
incident reports and things that you guys have put on reports just to explain that more carefully.  We 
always run out of time.  We might scoot through those incident reports now and then get into a 
general chatter again about general issues.  We need to not be interrupting, myself included 
obviously because I am good at doing that.  We just want to try to run straight through them.  If you 
just keep it as concise as you can because I want to have a general chat.   

Mr P. PAPALIA:  Jo is going to give you all the incident reports we are going to refer to.  We do 
not expect you to remember every single thing.  I am referring to one on 29 August 2005.  An 
incident report recalls that at the start of loading lead onto the ship - it doesn’t name the ship - the 
lead was dropping into CV2, together with wind conditions, the lead dust was channelled down the 
confines of CV26, travelling the length of CV26 to disperse at 26/27 tower.  Workers just copped 
the dust.  What was the cause of the incident, if you know, and has this occurred at other times?  

Mr Stewart:  I remember that incident because I spoke with the guys concerned regarding it.  They 
talked to me because I was a health and safety rep.  That issue came about because at the start of 
loading when you first run the belts, if there is residue on the belts, it has dried out.  When you first 
start loading, there will be dust generated by that process.  When we were doing it, we always made 
a point of wetting all the belts down before we started loading so that effect would be reduced.  I 
talked to you before about moisture and water control.  One of the problems we had was we did not 
have good methods of using water to - a lot of these conveyors, like that one that caused that dust, 
out of the shed there was a short conveyor and then the main conveyor leading onto the loading 
circuit connected directly onto the conveyors he is talking about there.  When it started up, any 
residue on that belt was turned into dust.   

Mr P. PAPALIA:  That conveyor he is talking about is not a lead conveyor going into a wharf.  
That is the conveyor inshore that runs along the length of the port.  Where he is talking about 
CV26/27 tower, that is right over near the iron ore area, is it not?  

Mr Stewart:  There is a common area; there is a crossover area.  If you go back a few years, the 
iron ore and the nickel shared the same circuit.  There is a common tower where all those conveyors 
intersect.  Because there are no barriers between the heavy metal circuit and the iron ore circuit, 
when dust is generated, depending on the wind conditions and the circumstances - 

Mr P. PAPALIA:  They are not lead conveyors; that is what I was pointing out.   

Mr Willoughby:  If you get a westerly, it will blow directly down that CV26 so any dust created at 
the west end of that will end up there.  It will travel.   

Mr P. PAPALIA:  It went a long way.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  We need to move quickly.   
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Mr P. PAPALIA:  I will push through these other questions and then we will come back.  There is 
another incident report on 29 September 2005.  It reports build-up of lead/nickel concentrates on 
belly sheets and cable trays at the tail of CV2 where it joins tower 2.  The comment is that this was 
not cleaned up after the last lead ship left Port Kenny on 31 August.  How were the berth trays in 
CV2 cleaned?  First of all, does anyone recall that?  

Mr Stewart:  My name is on there so I guess I have to own up to that one.   

Mr P. PAPALIA:  So that suggests that cleaning was not conducted after a previous ship.   

[10.30 am] 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  After you have done a load of lead, and everything is off the belt, 
does it get cleaned in some way? 

Mr Stewart:  The vacuum truck was our - 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Yes, but a vacuum truck would not get up into where all the 
conveyor belts are, where the dust might collect on those conveyor belts, or a bit of old material left 
there? 

Mr Stewart:  Certainly, that is the intention of our clean-up process, yes.  The vacuum truck would 
normally have a run after a shipment, and identified areas of build-up would be cleaned up.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  You can imagine that whatever is left on those conveyor belts after a 
load would dry out and the next lot of wind that would come along - remember, the issue of the dust 
is that it is very fine, and it is going to blow away very easily.  We have already raised the matter 
that it is not the visible dust with lead that is the key issue.  It is stuff so fine you cannot see it.  Do 
you believe that that dust would blow away?  Was there enough dust left on the conveyor belt to be 
blowing away after the vacuum truck had cleaned? 

Mr Stewart:  Quite possibly, yes.  

Mr Willoughby:  Probably not so much on the conveyor belt, but on the system, on the walkways 
and underneath the walkways, where it gets carried back on the belts and it falls on the belly sheets.  
The condition of some of the belly sheets is pretty ordinary as well, and it could have escaped 
through some of the gaps and rust holes and what not in that as well.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  And the cleaning system does not clean all that? 

Mr Willoughby:  They can get to it.  

Mr Stewart:  They did not actually clean the belts as such.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  There would still be stuff left on the belts.  

Mr Stewart:  The belts are not brand new.  A lot of them have got a degree of deterioration on the 
surface, so they can have little grooves that have some material in them, which will not usually be a 
problem, until you actually operate the belt, and then, as the belt goes around the various turning 
points, it opens up the belt and that stuff can come out.  That was where that first one that we - 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  I think what we are trying to do is get a picture from them.  

Mr Wierobiej:  Just going back to that last one, what you have got to remember is that you have 
got a rubber belt that carries a product.  Once it drops it into the chute, that belt returns, so you have 
what you call carry back.  If a product is moist it sticks to the belt, so it is on the return side.  It does 
not matter what sort of a vacuum cleaner you have got, you are not going to pick all of it up, 
because it is going to eventually stick to that part.  It will eventually dry, and that is where possibly 
the dust is coming from, or did come from.  The people who were contracted to do the cleaning did 
their best, but they would not vacuum each return roller, and those sorts of things.   

Mr P. PAPALIA:  That has answered question 5.  We were going to ask about an incident report 
that talked about carry back.  We were going to ask you how it was cleaned up.  There is another 
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incident report on 27 October 2005 that reports lead product falling out between tin and cement 
walls, east end of lead shed.  It was thought that maybe the shed was loaded too high at that end.  
The supervisor reported that the shed was not overfilled.  Lead spilled through sheets when cleaning 
around concrete walls.  Was that an accurate report of the incident, and how did cleaning cause a 
spill, and how much lead was spilled? 

Mr Willoughby:  Yes, that was me again.  It could very well have been - I assume that was the 
product.  You have got a cement wall and a tin wall.  

Mr P. PAPALIA:  Yes, we have been in there.  

Mr Willoughby:  It could very well have been that the shed was overloaded, or it could have been 
when the loaders were picking the product up at the end of the ship or something like that, and they 
just push it out through the gap.  Or it may be cleaning up around the top of the wall or something 
like that.  Some of the product may have fallen down through the gap in between the tin and the 
cement.  

Dr G.G. JACOBS:  On 11 January 2006 there was a report of an incident where a worker was 
changing the hatch and he released 60 to 100 kilos of lead from the chute hitting the edge of the 
ship and into the water.  Do you know about that incident, and was this incident reported to the 
Department of Environment and Conservation?  Do you know that? 

Mr Willoughby:  I do not know about if it had been reported to the DEC.  That bloke actually 
works on our shift.  

Dr G.G. JACOBS:  Do you know about the incident, though? 

Mr Willoughby:  Not specifically, no, but it can happen.  When the ship loader is pulled up to 
travel from one hatch to another, depending on how far up you have got it, it does bang in the gap 
between the ship and the berth.  So, if there is some product hanging up in the chute and happens to 
fall at that time - I did not witness that happening, but it can.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Have you guys ever individually seen product being loaded going 
into the water at any stage, even little bits falling off? 

Mr Stewart:  Certainly.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  There has to be, because you know the benthic levels.  

Mr Willoughby:  It is the carry back on the conveyor system - that is where that product would 
come from.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  So you can see stuff dropping off if it is too sticky?  

Mr Willoughby:  Yes, you see little flakes of it from time to time come off, and it goes from where 
the ship loader hangs over the ship, it carries back right across the deck, across the gap and across 
under the ship loader as well, and you can see -  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Do you get chunks of wet stuff that had been stuck?  

Mr Willoughby:  No, just tiny flakes.  From time to time you might get a decent bit fall down - a 
cupful maybe - but for the full time of the ship it trickles off.  

Mr Wierobiej:  Two of the conveyors - and these are the particular ones you are targeting - are the 
ones that travel out onto the ship.  The shuttle is part of that.  They have no guards underneath.  

Mr P. PAPALIA:  The CV3 do not.  

Dr G.G. JACOBS:  Which ones are those? 

Mr Wierobiej:  They are CV6 and 7.  They do not have any means of catching any product.  

Mr P. PAPALIA:  The CV3 does not either, does it?  That runs the whole length of the wharf.  

Mr Wierobiej:  That is right, yes.  
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The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  I guess that was the point.  I remember you were talking before 
about when it is a wet product and it sticks to the underside and drops off, and so under CV3 you 
will get product.  But why would it wait all the way back to get under CV3 before dropping off?  
You would expect a reasonable amount to drop off, but just after it drops the load into the ship and 
starts coming back again.  

Mr P. PAPALIA:  The belts go in different directions.  

Mr Wierobiej:  It is like a motor car tyre.  It has a tread and it will pick up mud and will travel it.  

Mr Stewart:  There are actually scrapers fitted at various points in the system, which are just a 
mechanical scraper blade that peels off the bulk of any stuff that is adhering, but it depends on the 
quality of the belt and the product you are handling how much you recover.  We identified a 
number of times the problem we had with CV3 because it is 500 metres of belt, basically, and on 
the carry back side there is 200 metres of it exposed to the atmosphere, and once it has gone through 
what we call the take-up system, it is running across a series of return rollers, and each time we go 
over a return roller, it is getting some vibration.  We identified that that was a problem, in our 
original submission.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  The nickel is quite corrosive, as I understand it, is it not? 

Mr Stewart:  That is true.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  So you are getting damage to the belt through transporting the 
nickel? 

Mr Stewart:  I do not think the rubber actually corrodes, as such; certainly the infrastructure did.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  It is more the stuff around it.  

Mr Stewart:  It is more abrasion of the belt that caused that to deteriorate.  

Dr G.G. JACOBS:  I think you probably partially answered this one about cleaning conveyor belts, 
but I draw your attention to the 11 October 2006 incident, where CV2 reported product not cleaned 
from CV2 lead chute after lead ship - approximately three inches thick.  The comments note that the 
chute was not scraped properly clean, mainly due to poor chute design.  What is the procedure for 
cleaning the chute and the conveyor belts, which you have probably alluded to already?  On 5 
March 2007 a worker claims in an incident report related to cleaning CV7 discharge chute and 
indicates it took an hour, wearing PPE, and he ended up covered in lead.  Is this usual practice? 

Mr Stewart:  Both Tony and I, we have all been what we call plant supervisors in the job, and at 
the end of each shipment there is an accepted process where you go through and clean out each of 
the transfer points.  That form would have been raised and the one that you refer to I know of from 
talking to the guys concerned, was a case when, if you have got a wet product and there is a lot of 
stuff built up in there, it takes you a time to clean it out, because it is stuck all around the transfer 
point.  The guys - that was on your shift, wasn’t it? 

Mr Barker:  Yes, if it was March 2007, I think that was Shane Guy.  Is that correct? 

Dr G.G. JACOBS:  Yes, 5 March 2007.  Is that Shane Guy who put the incident report in? 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  We have a copy of it here.  

Mr Barker:  Also, if it is a very dry product, it still hangs in the corners, and if it is windy at the 
time when the person is cleaning the chute down, he is going to wear the dust that he is trying to 
knock into the hatch cover.  That is an issue that was raised as well.  

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  And the vacuum truck would not pick all that stuff up then?  

[10.40 am] 

Mr Barker:  No, we basically use scrapers to knock down every bit that we can visibly see. 
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Mr Wierobiej:  There are two areas they are talking about here.  One area is at the top end of CV2 
before it goes on to 3.  Have you people been there to see what it looks like? 

Dr G.G. JACOBS:  Yes, we have. 

Mr Wierobiej:  So you know it is like an extended bath.  At the front of it is the plug and at the rear 
is where you tip your product and because it is very shallow, it builds up.  Part of our duties of 
letting the ship go was to clean these areas out; and to clean it out you actually have to tag 
everything out and then hop in it.  That part of the procedure probably takes half an hour to tag it 
out, half an hour to clean it, half an hour to put it back into the system and load it off into the ship.  
So there is a time frame of probably an hour and a bit. 

Dr G.G. JACOBS:  And that is a pretty dirty job. 

Mr Wierobiej:  For sure, yes.   

Dr G.G. JACOBS:  Could I ask about the comment there earlier about the poor chute design? 

Mr Wierobiej:  Once again I am referring to CV2 that is very flat.  Where the methods, like the 
scrapers and the brushes to clean the back of the belt, CV2, on its return, that area is very shallow.  
The product will tend to build instead of flow onto CV3.  A similar situation is on CV6 onto 7, the 
same problem.  We have to get in there physically and clean it out. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  We need to move on.  We have just three questions left and then we 
can have more of a general discussion. 

Mr Wierobiej:  I must also say that this system was designed for something like more of a free-
flowing product like nickel; whereas the moisture content of the lead was probably two per cent 
higher and it was sticking. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  Question 9 reads - 

12/10/06 complaint in incident report about storage of old lead and nickel samples.  How are 
the samples treated after testing and where are they stored? 

Do you know the answer to that?   

Mr Willoughby:  Okay, that specific incident, yes. 

Mr Stewart:  That question is a difficult one for us.  We just actually have a sample room.  We 
have a person, the sampler, who collects samples and stores them in the sample room.  As far as I 
understood, Magellan’s agent usually took over from there and dealt with it.  We were just asked to 
complete the process of drying the samples.  The samples were all dried as we went, just to get the 
moisture levels in it, and that was recorded in the logs. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Question 10; the member for Wagin is dying to read that. 

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  It reads - 

11/12/06 with the loading of the MV Lemmergracht notes “…the lead conveyors way to 
dusty when on ship could not see piles and covered in lead dust…product in Magellan shed 
to dry for outloading..”  The report also indicates that polo citrus makes the product to sticky 
and blocks up the chutes…”  Do you remember the incident and how was it reported? 

That was on the eleventh of the twelfth. 

Mr Stewart:  Does it have a name at the top of that; whose name is on top of it? 

Mr Willoughby:  That is the one they are just talking about, the sample. 

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  I am not sure of that. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Have a look, Jo, and show him which one. 

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  It reads - 
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11/12 . . . with the loading of the . . . Lemmergracht “...the lead conveyors way to dusty 
when on ship . . .  

I guess the thing here is about the Polo Citrus making the product too sticky and blocking up the 
chutes. 

Mr Stewart:  Yes.  We did experiment with the Polo Citrus but we did not find it was working 
well.  We actually did some trialling of the Polo Citrus and we did not have a lot of success with it. 

Mr Willoughby:  It has since been proved that it has got to be a chunky product for it to work to 
coat the actual individual particle. 

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  So did you keep using it? 

Mr Stewart:  No.  Generally after several tries we realised we were better off not using it because it 
was not suited to the product we were using it on. 

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  Okay.  I will move on to the next one, which reads - 

On 14/01/07 there was an accident inloading lead and the rubber ducting between the hopper 
and the skip ruptured.  The report indicates that there was no way to check the dust level in 
the ship -  

Mr Stewart:  Skip. 

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  Did I say “ship”?  Sorry - 

and no compressor to operate lid mechanism and check levels.  This would have impacted 
the negative pressure in the loading system.  Do you remember the incident and how and 
when did loading continue? 

Mr Stewart:  Yes, that was actually inloading.  I think my name might be on that report, because I 
remember the incident.  I was working elsewhere when I got a report from the Brambles supervisor 
or loader operator to say they had problems with the ducting that feeds into the skip that collects the 
dust out of that extraction system that had ruptured.  When I went down to investigate, there had 
been a significant spillage.  The skip was full and when I spoke to Phil, the guy from Brambles, he 
said, “Well, we couldn’t tell what was in there.”  There was an air ram system operated by a 
compressor, which actually allowed that lid to be lifted so you could actually inspect the levels, and 
the compressor had been removed and I subsequently found out the scenario around that.  Unknown 
to me and to Phil, it had been removed because it was defective and it was decided that when you 
needed to check the level, you could go and get a mobile compressor and hook it up and lift the 
thing up. 

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  So they did not replace that compressor; they just went and got it? 

Mr Stewart:  No, the decision was taken that because it was a corrosive environment and it was 
going to be a continual problem, they would just bring one in, but the communications - often our 
problems are all around communication.  People take a decision and if you are on a different shift 
and that does not communicate through to your shift -  

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  You do not know. 

Mr Stewart:  You might come along and find things were not working the way you expected. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  This whole issue of communication is obviously important, but I 
want to get back to what we were talking about at the start.  You guys went to look at Port Pirie. 

Mr Stewart:  Yes. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  And the - 

Mr Stewart:  The mine. 
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The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  And convinced, I guess, that it was going to happen, or at least told 
it was going to happen.  But along this way was this issue of pellet versus agglomerate versus what 
it ended up being, just a moist ball.  Were you convinced by the agglomerate story?  Did you notice 
the change?  What was your reaction to the changing nature of the product? 

Mr Wierobiej:  I can partly answer this.  The time frame when we got notified that we were going 
to handle lead until we actually handled it was very quick.  They mentioned to us some time in 
January that we could be handling lead, and on 4 April we got a first trial parcel and rail.  The trip 
to Port Pirie was in that period of time.  We also had some submissions from the workforces as to 
what our concerns were, but there was a major push to get this product into the port, onto ships and 
for export. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  By whom? 

Mr Wierobiej:  Magellan, obviously. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Yes, but people at the port as well? 

Mr Wierobiej:  They are who employ us, so yes there would have been. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Okay. 

Mr Wierobiej:  But Magellan people were the main ones who were pushing.  Watters was here and 
he gave us a big spiel on how the product was going to be handled, how good the product was going 
to be.  Initially it was to come down with the moisture content around 10 per cent, as was 
mentioned by Kim Riseborough and the first lot of stuff that did come was reasonably good, but 
some of the kibbles were wet, too wet to handle through a conveyor system.  So at that stage it was 
returned and we asked for them to present a better product.  That is when this agglomeration idea 
came.  The next lot that came down, by the time we got it here it looked no different to what was 
sent in the first batch. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  So it was still very wet? 

Mr Wierobiej:  Yes, it was still, yes, fairly moist and that was made up for the first shipment.  The 
first shipment was pretty reasonable; it handled well; it had no dust; a lot of it never stuck to the 
belt; there was not a great deal of carry back; and that is where, I suppose, we were sort of led to 
believe that this stuff was handleable.  In fact, some of the comments that the workers did make was 
that it is probably better to handle than nickel.   

[10.50 am] 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Yes.  So tell us what happened then.  How did it proceed?  When 
they stopped doing agglomeration, did you notice the difference?  Did it become drier? 

Mr Stewart:  The agglomeration - I remember that area well because I actually went to the 
minesite and I saw the thing that was supposed to do the agglomeration, and I must admit the guys 
from the operational side, when they saw what they were intended to do, were a bit sceptical about 
the process.  The original prill that we were shown was something more like - if you have seen 
fertiliser, fairly small-type integral balls of material.  What we saw in their commissioning process 
was not achieving that, and in fact it never, as far as we can tell, did achieve that.  We were a bit 
sceptical about the guarantees that Mr Watters was giving us about the quality of the product and 
how well it handled.  Initially he said, “No, I am more concerned that the balls would run back 
down our conveyor belts”; that the conveyor belts would not be able to pull it up the hill sort of 
thing because of the balls rolling back down the hill.  That never came close to eventuating.  By the 
time we saw it, it was pretty much the same as we see the nickel, but without the big, hard, hot, dry 
lumps in it.  The good part about it for us was that it did not change much in character from the time 
it sat in the shed till the time you were out-loading it; whereas the nickel tends to continue to react, 
causing lumps to be created, and you get issues around that. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  A bit like wet fertiliser does. 
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Mr Stewart:  Well, a lot worse, because oxidisation goes on and very large, hard lumps get 
produced in old batches. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Did you notice the change when they stopped agglomerating? 

Mr Stewart:  We were never told when that happened.  We did not notice any significant 
difference.  They had problems at their end making the agglomerator work, but we were not 
actually part of that communication.  We knew that their interest was in getting the stuff down to 
the port and having us accept it.  In the end they achieved that, and we, to some degree, acquiesced 
to it. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  You just put up with it. 

Mr Stewart:  It was our job to handle the stuff, and a lot of the issues that we were concerned about 
did not appear to be as significant as they first appeared.  Because the earlier process dampened it, it 
handled quite well. 

Mr Barker:  I would just like to add to that that Magellan in the original meeting said they were not 
going to send this product down - only a certain amount of time; I think a year and a half.  They 
said they would smelt it and turn it into ingots.  I actually asked if the Esperance port would lose the 
contract.  They said no.  I basically said to Trevor Watters, “Can we quote you on this: that we will 
have ingots within a year and a half to two years?”  I actually had another fellow come and say that 
they are not going to make ingots any more, because why would they do it when they can do it for a 
third of the cost in China.  That was basically when we started to get more aggressive, I believe. 

Mr M.P. WHITELY:  I just want to ask, to clarify my understanding, how the moisture inside the 
shed was determined.  We have had evidence that the port took responsibility for ensuring that the 
product was not too wet, but of course the dust was created when the product was too dry.  Whose 
responsibility was it for ensuring that?  Was it Brambles’, was it Magellan’s or was it the port 
workers’ responsibility to go inside the shed before it was loaded up? 

Mr Barker:  As far as I understand it, Magellan sent a shipment down with a declaration of the 
actual moisture level of that product, and then we take our own sampling whilst the ship is out-
loading and, basically, at the end of the thing we will have an average and we will know how close 
it is to the level that they had sent down. 

Mr M.P. WHITELY:  It is whilst the ship is being loaded, so it is when the process is underway; it 
is not actually in the shed.  The only evidence you get is a document prepared by Magellan at, 
presumably, the minesite when they load it on the little kibbles.   

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  There is a big gap in the middle. 

Mr Stewart:  I remember when we were assessing the process, we did raise that - would we be able 
to have an ongoing sampling of the product - because we did not know how it was going to behave.  
We knew that the nickel changed significantly in the shed, and we did not know how we would 
handle it.  We were given assurances that it would be relatively inert.  It did appear that was the 
case, but the problem, as I said before, is that the product was not consistent and we did not 
necessarily know what was in that stockpile when we started out-loading.  We had been given some 
information, but generally when we started loading out, we had to take it on what came out when 
the loaders started putting it into the hopper.  We had to make our assessment then, which was not 
all that satisfactory to us because when we start having issues with dust, we then have to make a 
choice on how we deal with that, whose call it was to stop and whose call it was to manage the 
moisture levels from there on in. 

Mr M.P. WHITELY:  The only indicator would have been visible dust, and if it began in the 
middle of the night, you would not see it, and there were problems with invisible as well.  But just 
very quickly, was it Brambles, Magellan and/or port workers who were going into the shed without 
PPE?  I do not want specific names, but was it a general occurrence? 
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Mr Stewart:  It certainly would not be the employees on our shift teams.  Occasionally, various 
visitors or outside persons might come and want to see what was going on.  Exactly where they 
went and what they did, we did not necessarily have clear indications of, but it was pretty rare for 
anyone to want to go inside that shed, except for the operators, because it was not a very pleasant 
environment. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  We have only got five minutes left. 

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  Just quickly.  You made a comment very early today when you said that 
there were problems to some degree with nickel.  I was just wondering what the problems were that 
you were referring to and were you concerned, with the lead coming, that those problems would 
continue with the lead or perhaps be even greater because of the dangerous nature of the goods?  
Was that what you were referring to? 

Mr Stewart:  Yes, I guess so.  I think all the operators of that system were aware of its 
shortcomings and we had identified them and we had measures in place to try to address them.  Our 
concerns in that document, I think, which you referred to right at the start, were that it had taken us 
time to get control of the nickel.  In the time that I worked at the port - I have been there about 
seven-odd years now - when I first started I was appalled at the standards we were accepting on 
nickel.  We worked very hard to improve that, but there were limitations because our expenditure 
that we were able to make on those improvements was limited by the port’s budgetary constraints. 

Mr T.K. WALDRON:  That is why I asked that question.  So the concerns about nickel meant that 
surely when lead was coming there should have been greater concerns because of the nature of the 
lead. 

Mr Stewart:  Yes, we were not experts on the relative toxicities of the materials we were handling.  
We tried to identify those as best we could, but, I mean, we are all basically guys who work down 
there in various roles.  Our health and safety rep role is one.  We were elected by our workmates to 
represent them on issues of occ health and safety.  We are not experts - we do not pretend to be - 
but we do our best, within the limitations we have, to identify issues that the guys have.  There were 
an awful lot of issues around the lead because blokes would go home and talk to their wives and the 
wives would say, “I don’t want you handling lead.”  Guys said to me before we started, “Can we 
just refuse to handle it?”  I said, “Well, my understanding is that if the port comes up with a safe 
operating plan, then we are obliged to handle it.”  A lot of guys, if they had had the option, would 
not have handled it.  I can tell you that now.  But that was their job and that is what they did.  We 
did not have the constraints of the equipment we were using.  We did what we could to contain it 
and control it. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Last question, member for Peel. 

Mr P. PAPALIA:  The spray ring on the end of the leading chute, can you tell us whether that was 
always operational when you were loading lead? 

Mr Willoughby:  It could have been, yes. 

Mr P. PAPALIA:  It was not always operational. 

Mr Willoughby:  No.  They could have plugged it in and used it at any time, but - 

Mr P. PAPALIA:  So there were times when lead loading went ahead when that water spray ring 
was not operational. 

Mr Willoughby:  Unless people were identifying visible dust and were concerned with it, the spays 
were not necessarily all that effective. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  It was just in case, I guess. 

Mr Stewart:  Yes, they were a backup that we had found effective on iron ore dust control, but I do 
not think they were - 
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Mr P. PAPALIA:  It was in the Riseborough report that they would be installed prior to loading. 

Mr Stewart:  Yes, they were installed. 

Mr P. PAPALIA:  Do you know whether there was a time when they were not functioning and 
loading went ahead anyway? 

Mr Willoughby:  Not particularly, no. 

Dr G.G. JACOBS:  Just one question.  This is a concern that you had.  Were you happy about the 
process in order to get change?  There were issues of containment, there were issues of equipment 
deficiency etc.  Were you often frustrated by how you saw those things in a process to get change? 

Mr Willoughby:  It was frustrating.  Some of them did seem to take a lot longer to process and it 
seemed to be that they were looking at designs, and they looked at designs for 12 months that did 
that kind of thing.  They did not seem to be trying to get into it and physically do something too 
quick. 

The ACTING CHAIRMAN:  Thanks very much.  We do need to finish because we have the next 
person due.  I know it is a bit daunting coming into a room full of people like this, but you have 
done a great job.  We really appreciate the time that you have given.   

I just need to read some things to you before you go.  A transcript of this hearing will be forwarded 
to you for correction of minor errors.  Please make those corrections and return the transcript within 
10 working days of mailing.  If the transcript is not returned within this period, it will be deemed to 
be correct.  We get that when we do a speech in Parliament.  We look through to see if something 
might have been misheard.  It is not an opportunity to say, “Oh, I said the wrong thing.  I should 
have said something different.”  You cannot do those changes.  You can do that as an addendum if 
you want to.  If you have said something that you realise later is not true, you can do a correction, 
but not in the body of the transcript.  If you do not want to return it, that is fine.  We will just 
assume that it is all okay.  Thanks very much, guys. 

Hearing concluded at 11.00 am 

__________________ 


